Public Document Pack

AGENDA
NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only

Committee

- POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND
AND
REVIEW PANEL 1

Date & Time

-

TUESDAY, 5 FEBRUARY, 2008 at 10.00 am

Venue

-

THE GALLERY BAR, WATTON SPORTS
CENTRE, DEREHAM ROAD, WATTON

Note:
Note:
The Chairman and Members of the Council’s Development Control Committee are
cordially invited to attend for joint consideration with the PDRP1 for Local
Development
Development Framework Agenda items 6 & 7.
Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific questions, are asked to
raise these with the appropriate officer at least two working days before the meeting. If the
information requested is available, this will be provided, and reported to Committee.
Panel 1 Members:
Mr J.D. Rogers (Chairman)
Mrs M.P. Chapman-Allen
Mr R.P. Childerhouse
Mr P.J. Duigan
Mr A.P. Joel (Vice-Chairman)

Committee Services
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE

Mr K. Martin
Mr I.A.C. Monson
Mrs P. Quadling
Mrs P.A. Spencer
Mrs L.S. Turner

PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING
ARE REQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE
TELEPHONES

Date: Friday, 25 January 2008

Please ask for Elaine Wilkes: Telephone (01362) 656354
e-mail: elaine.wilkes@breckland.gov.uk

PROTOCOL
The Working Style of the Policy Development & Review Panels
This document sets out the roles of Members and Officers, and the general principles to be adopted by the Policy
Development & Review Panels (PD&RP) overseeing the Panel’s mode of operation.
Member Leadership
Members of the Panel will undertake scrutiny topics as directed by the Overview & Scrutiny Commission (O&SC) and
will recognise that best practice identifies scrutiny as a Member-led activity. The Panel will expect Cabinet members,
to take responsibility for answering their questions about topics which primarily relate to the Council’s activities.
A Constructive Atmosphere
Meetings of the Panel will be constructive and not judgmental. Panel recognises and accepts that effective scrutiny is
best achieved through challenging and constructive enquiry. People giving evidence at Panel should be given due
respect and not made to feel under attack.
Independence
Members of the PD&RP will not be subject to whipping arrangements by the party groups.
Respect and Trust
Meetings will be conducted in a spirit of mutual respect and trust.
Consensus
Members of the Panel will work together and, while recognising political allegiances, will attempt to achieve consensus
and agreed recommendations. There will be recognition that the Panel has a primary duty to scrutinise on behalf of
the community.
Openness and Transparency
The PD&RP’s business will be open and transparent, except where there are sound reasons for protecting
confidentiality. The minutes of the Panel’s meetings will explain the discussion and debate so that they can be
understood by an outside reader.
Impartial and Independent Officer Advice
Officers who advise and support the Panel will give impartial and independent advice, as officers support all members
of the Council.
Regular Review
There will be regular reviews of how the scrutiny process is working, and a willingness to change if it is not working
effectively.
Programming and Planning
The Panel will have a programme of work assigned by the Overview & Scrutiny Commission. The Panel will be able to
suggest additional topics for review through the O&SC for approval in the work programme. Before each topic is
commenced, the O&SC will agree the scope of the exercise, what information they will need initially, and which
members, officers and external witnesses they wish to see.
Managing Time
The Panel will aim to conclude the business of each meeting in reasonable time. The order of business will be
arranged as far as possible to minimise the demands on the time of witnesses. Where possible, members should give
advance notice of specific questions being provided at the time of the meeting to save items being deferred.

Policy Development and Review Panel 1
5 February 2008

PART A
ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC
Page(s)
herewith

1.

1-5

MINUTES
To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 18 December 2007.

2.

APOLOGIES
To receive apologies for absence.

3.

URGENT BUSINESS
To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act, 1972.

4.

DECLARATION OF INTEREST
Members are asked at this stage to declare any interests that they may have in
any of the following items on the agenda. The Members' Code of Conduct
requires that declarations include the nature of the interest and whether it is a
personal or prejudicial interest.

5.

NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING
To note the names of any non-members wishing to address the meeting.

6.

LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK: OPEN SPACE ASSESSMENT

6-8

Report of the Strategic Director (Business Transformation).
Due to the considerable size of the supporting documentation, this has been
circulated in cd-rom form to Members and other consultees under separate
cover for information.
A presentation will be given at the meeting.
7.

LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK: LANDSCAPE CHARACTER
ASSESSMENT

9 - 25

Report of the Strategic Director (Business Transformation).
Due to the considerable size of the supporting documentation, this has been
circulated in cd-rom form to Members and other consultees under separate
cover for information.
A presentation will be given at the meeting.
8.

PLANNING POLICY STATEMENT: PLANNING AND CLIMATE CHANGE SUPPLEMENT TO PLANNING POLICY STATEMENT 1
Report of the Strategic Director (Business Transformation).

3

26 - 57

Policy Development and Review Panel 1
5 February 2008
Page(s)
herewith

9.

58

WORK PROGRAMME
A copy of the current work programme is attached. Members are invited to
consider any additional items or topics for inclusion on the future work
programme.

10.

NEXT MEETING
To note the arrangements for the next meeting on Tuesday, 11 March 2008 at
10:00am in the Gallery Bar, Watton Sports Centre.

4

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

Agenda Item 1

At a Meeting of the
POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND REVIEW PANEL 1
Held on Tuesday, 18 December 2007 at 10.00 am in the
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham
PRESENT
Mr J.D. Rogers (Chairman)
Mrs M.P. Chapman-Allen
Mr R.P. Childerhouse

Mr P.J. Duigan
Mr A.P. Joel (Vice-Chairman)
Mr K. Martin

In Attendance
Mark Broughton
Jason Elliott
Paul Harris
Andrea Long
David Spencer
Elaine Wilkes

-

Scrutiny Officer
GIS Officer
Planning Policy Officer
Environmental Planning Manager
Principal Planning Policy Officer
Senior Committee Officer
Action By

80/07 MINUTES
The minutes of the meeting held on 27 November 2007 were confirmed as
a correct record and signed by the Chairman.
81/07 APOLOGIES
Apologies for absence were received from Mrs. P. Spencer and Mrs. L.
Turner.
82/07 DECLARATION OF INTEREST
Mr. J.D. Rogers declared personal interests in respect of agenda item 6, as
a member of Norfolk County Council, agenda item 7 as Ward Member for
Carbrooke and agenda item 9 in respect of LDF matters relating to
Carbrooke as Ward Member and with business interests.
83/07 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING
The following members were in attendance:
§
§
§

Mrs D. Irving
Mr. W. Borrett
Mr. S.G. Bambridge

84/07 FLEXI BUS SERVICES IN BRECKLAND (AGENDA ITEM 6)
The Chairman welcomed Mr. Chris Limbach of Norfolk County Council to
the meeting, who was attending at the Panel’s invitation to advise members
on the Flexibus scheme.
Leaflets giving details of the Flexibus services for the Wayland and
Wymondham areas were circulated for members’ information.
1

1

Policy Development and Review Panel 1
18 December 2007
Action By

Mr. Limbach explained that the Flexibus scheme had been developed over
the last few years to meet the needs of the rural areas and to fill the gaps
left by the withdrawal of or changes to certain other bus services. The
Flexibus scheme offered facilities for journeys to work, school and college
and was available between the hours of 9.00 a.m. and 3.00 p.m. for
demand response travel, i.e. people could ring and book a journey in
advance, thus offering the areas served the opportunity to travel five days a
week and connections to other bus and rail services.
Following the recent changes to the First Bus X3 and X4 services, National
Express had agreed to join the concessionary bus fares scheme to cover
the X4 route and this new service was settling down and running well.
Seats were subject to availability.
Funding for the Flexibus scheme was met by the transfer of funding from
the withdrawn services and for the school contract from the Education
budget.
It was worthy of note that, including school and college travel, the Wayland
Flexibus scheme had passed 1000 passengers and the numbers of people
using he service was steadily increasing.
During the following discussion, members highlighted areas of the District
where rural villages were very poorly served by public transport and where
services were needed, particularly for old and young people. The lack of
evening bus services was also a problem, particularly for young people.
Mr. Limbach explained that the scale of need across the County meant
there were limits on what could be achieved in the short term. The County
Council was looking to introduce three new Flexibus schemes during 2008
(including one covering the area around North Walsham and one covering
the Fakenham/Holt area) and North Norfolk was also a key action area. In
the Breckland District, the East Harling was a potential area for a future
scheme but it was unlikely that could be achieved in the next financial year.
So far as evening transport for young people was concerned, the County
Council was currently running various Leisure and Learning Link schemes
in a number of centres. Funding for these schemes was due to run out at
Easter 2008 and therefore most of these were unlikely to continue.
However, the possibility of extending the scheme at Dereham was being
considered, as this was one of the most successful and funding was being
investigated for this. The scheme at Watton had been very under-used.
Bus operators were also being encouraged to offer reduced fares to the16 –
19 year age group and one operator offered this, which had been well taken
up.
Mr. Limbach agreed that rural villages were ideally suited to Flexibus
schemes. He thought that over the next five years or so, people would see
more schemes developed to meet need but it needed to be recognised that
this was a large undertaking dependent on funding.
Mr. Limbach confirmed he was happy to accept invitations to come and talk
on the matter at Parish Council meetings.
2

2

Policy Development and Review Panel 1
18 December 2007
Action By

The Chairman thanked Mr. Limbach for attending and hoped that it would
be possible to collaborate further to improve rural bus services in the future.
85/07 STREET NAMING & NUMBERING - POLICY AND PROCESSES
(AGENDA ITEM 7)
The Environmental Planning Manager presented the report, which provided
information in respect of recent issues raised about the street naming and
numbering of properties in the Carbooke/Griston area and gave details of
new procedures being introduced to prevent such problems from reoccurring.
Members welcomed the opportunity to review procedures and in addition to
the options outlined in the report, felt that the opportunity should also be
taken to transfer the whole function to Environmental Planning which would
ensure that a more efficient, comprehensive and co-ordinated approach
could be achieved.
It was noted that the aim was to align the street naming and numbering
function with the Council’s Geographic Information System and Local Land
and Property Gazetteer so that proposed developments were plotted in at
the earliest point in the planning application process.
It was noted that the Council had no existing specific policy covering this
function and Members welcomed the proposal to review procedures and
establish a formal policy. A number of examples of existing problems were
cited by Members that they felt needed resolving.
The Panel therefore
RECOMMEND to the Overview and Scrutiny Commission that
(1)

Cabinet be recommended to approve the integration of the
street naming and numbering function with the Local Land and
Property Gazetteer managed by the Environmental Planning
Team; and

(2)

authorise the Panel to undertake a full review of the policies and
procedures for the street naming and numbering function.

86/07 WORK PROGRAMME (AGENDA ITEM 8)
Subject to the agreement of the Overview and Scrutiny Commission, the
issue of street naming and numbering was agreed for incorporation into the
work programme. The timing of future items was to be agreed.
87/07 LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK: URBAN CAPACITY STUDY
(AGENDA ITEM 9)
The Principal Planning Policy Officer presented the report and explained
that the Urban Capacity Study (UCS) had been developed to form part of
the evidence base for the Preferred Options Consultation on the Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document
3

3

Policy Development and Review Panel 1
18 December 2007
Action By

(DPD) of the Local Development Framework (LDF).
The UCS 2004 study methodology had been utilised and the findings
updated in light of permissions secured since the previous survey base date
to include any known new sites in the intervening period. The study found
that an expected capacity of 1772 dwellings could be provided on
previously unidentified brownfield land in the five market towns and
proposed Local Service Centres in the period up to 2021.
During discussion and in answer to various questions, the following points
were highlighted:
§
§

§

§
§

§

§
§

The study was a required evidence document for the purposes of
the LDF. It had to contain robustly sourced information, based on
national guidance, but was not a policy document.
The sites identified in the study were estimations of potential
capacity only, not proposals, of sites which might or might not come
forward at some future point during the life of the LDF. It was not
unheard of, for example, an existing amenity site, such as a public
house, to come forward for development. Identified sites were those
rolled forward from the existing Local Plan and informed by
extensive dialogue with the Development Control team who, in turn,
have knowledge from developers. So far as smaller sites were
concerned, these were identified from the perspective that they met
basic criteria although landowners’ intentions were unknown.
It was recognised that there were tensions with other policy
objectives. Hence, it was important that the policies in the LDF were
robust. Therefore, some sites would ultimately fall against other
policies. The UCS was a technical document. There was no
guarantee that any sites would gain planning permission.
The UCS identified sites which could potentially accommodate
dwellings of five or more. Smaller sites were not identified.
The Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) would
further define land for housing potential in a much more rigorous
way and would look at land, both greenfield and brownfield, outside
the defined settlement boundaries of towns and villages.
The data collected in the UCS would provide the basis for the wider
SHLAA study to be produced in 2008 and on which there would be
further consultation to test the deliverability and development
capability of sites.
The inclusion of sites in the UCS was not based in any way on
representations from individuals.
There would be further opportunities for public consultation before
the LDF Core Strategy was submitted in 2008.

The report was noted.
88/07 LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK ANNUAL MONITORING
REPORT 2006-07 (AGENDA ITEM 10)
The Planning Policy Officer presented the report and explained that this
was the 3rd Local Development Framework (LDF) Annual Monitoring Report
(AMR) to be prepared by the Council since the implementation of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
4

4

Policy Development and Review Panel 1
18 December 2007
Action By

The AMR outlined the Council’s performance against a number of Core
Output indicators set out in best practice guidance and monitored the
progression of the LDF against the Council’s adopted Local Development
Scheme (LDS).
It was noted that the information in the AMR covered the period since 1999
and therefore the figures on renewable energy did not include Fibrothetford.
It was agreed to include an amendment to show a running total that could
include the figures for Fibrothetford.
RESOLVED that the report be noted and an amendment made to give
a running total on renewable energy.
89/07 NEXT MEETING
Future meeting dates were agreed as follows:
§
§
§

5th February 2008
11th March 2008
1st April 2008

All start times 10.00 a.m. Venues subject to confirmation.
The meeting closed at 12.10 pm

CHAIRMAN

5

5

Agenda Item 6

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND REVIEW PANEL 1 - 5 FEBRUARY 2008
REPORT OF THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR (BUSINESS TRANSFORMATION)
(Author: Sam Hubbard – Planning Policy Assistant)
OPEN SPACE ASSESSMENT
Summary: This assessment forms part of the evidence base for the Breckland Local
Development Framework. The assessment includes an audit of all open space
provision within Breckland as required by the Government’s Planning Policy
Guidance 17 (PPG17). A detailed qualitative and quantitative assessment is made on
outdoor sports facilities and children’s play facilities, and the results of this
assessment has helped formulate local standards for outdoor sports provision and
children’s play provision. The report also outlines proposed developer contributions
and on-site provision for outdoor sport and children’s play areas. The assessment
was developed with input from the Community Engagement Team, and the
assessment has provided evidence for the Breckland Play Strategy. The standards
proposed in the Open Space Assessment should also help deliver the goals of the
Breckland Play Strategy.

1.

INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND

1.1

In 2005 Breckland commissioned consultants, Leisure and the Environment to
undertake a quantitative audit of all open spaces within Breckland in line with the
typologies identified in PPG17. This audit was consulted widely with town and parish
councils in December 2005 and was consequently updated by members of the
Planning Policy team throughout 2006. This enabled RoSPA (Royal Society of
Prevention of Accidents) to undertake a qualitative audit of the children’s play areas
identified. This was followed by a qualitative audit of outdoor sports areas by members
of the Planning Policy team toward the end of 2006. The data collected was analysed
and developed into the Open Space Assessment in early 2007 and was subject to
consultation with Sport England in the Spring of 2007

2.

KEY DECISION

2.1

This is not a key decision.

3.

COUNCIL PRIORITIES

3.1

The matter raised in this report falls within the following Council priorities:
•
•

A safe and healthy environment
A well planned place to live which encourages vibrant communities

4.

MAIN BODY OF REPORT

4.1

The Breckland Open Space Assessment identified 542 sites of open space that were
in conformity with the typologies listed in PPG17. These typologies include:
•

Outdoor Sport Areas

•

Children’s Play Areas

•

Parks and gardens

•

Natural and Semi-Natural Green Space

•

Amenity Green Space

6

•

Green Corridors

•

Allotments

•

Cemeteries and Churchyards

4.2

PPG17 states that standards for open space are best set locally. The Breckland Open
Space Assessment proposes local standards for outdoor sports areas and children’s
play areas, collectively termed as outdoor playing space. In order to set local
standards the Open Space Assessment has tested the current provision of outdoor
playing space in Breckland against the National Playing Field Association’s (NPFA) 6
acre standard (equivalent to 2.4 hectares).

4.3

The NPFA standard consists of 2.4ha of total outdoor playing space per 1000 people.
This standard is broken down to 1.6ha of outdoor sports provision per 1000 people and
0.8ha of children’s play area provision per 1000 people.

4.4

There is an overall deficiency of outdoor playing space throughout the district when
compared to the NPFA standard. The situation is particularly poor in the case of
children’s play provision, where the provision in all the Parishes except Guist fails to
meet the NPFA standard. It should be noted that the play area in Guist has no fixed
equipment. The picture is more balanced for the provision of outdoor sports where a
number of rural villages do meet the standard. In all types of provision the Market
towns, which will see the most housing growth over the next 20 years, are the most
deficient in outdoor playing space provision.

4.5

The comparison of provision against NPFA standard only covers the amount of
provision in terms of area. To produce an accurate audit of outdoor playing space, and
develop local standards for provision, an assessment of quality was undertaken on all
children’s play areas and outdoor sports areas in the District.

4.6

The quality of the 92 children’s play areas identified in the study was assessed by
RoSPA (Royal Society for the Prevention of Accidents). The assessment showed that
the quality of children’s play areas throughout the district is poor with few exceptions.
96% of children’s play areas in the district have a ‘Poor’ play value in at least one age
group. The situation for the quality of teenage play provision is particularly bad, not
one Parish in the district has provision for teenagers that scores above an ‘Average’
quality score.

4.7

The quality of outdoor sports facilities were assessed by Planning Policy Officers using
a methodology adapted from Sport England. The results from this assessment found
that the average quality score for most parishes was either ‘Average’ or ‘Above
average’.

4.8

The Assessment found that access to outdoor playing space is fairly good in the towns
and larger villages. However, there is a lack of access to children’s play areas and
outdoor sports facilities in some rural areas.

4.9

In addition to these audits, an array of consultation data was collated to help assess
the need for outdoor playing space in the District. The themes from this data indicated
that there was a general need for easily accessible play areas that were exciting,
challenging, clean and safe and for a wide range of age groups

4.10 From the assessment on quantity and quality and from previously collected
consultation data, the assessment concludes that higher standards than NPFA are
required in the LDF to ensure there is adequate provision of outdoor playing space to
meet the needs of the population. The assessment suggests a standard of 3ha of
outdoor playing space per 1000 people. This standard is broken down to 2ha per 1000
people for outdoor sport provision and 1ha per 1000 people for children’s play area
provision. The standard is slightly higher than NPFA to account for some of the current
deficiencies and to ensure that new development does not exacerbate the situation.
The assessment suggests that the standard should be partly achieved through on-site

7

(for developments of 30 dwellings or more) and off-site (for developments of less than
30 dwellings or where on-site open space would not be the most efficient use of land)
contributions from housing developments. The standard and suggestions were put
forward in Preferred Option DC12 of the Core Strategy and Development Control
Policies Preferred Options consultation which was agreed by Cabinet on 3rd December
2007. Additionally Preferred option DC12 seeks to protect all open space sites
identified in this Assessment.
4.11 In the case of off-site provision, the Open Space Assessment suggests commuted sum
payments are made based on the number and size of dwellings within the
development. The commuted sums for children’s play area provision range from £406
for a two bed dwelling to £700 for a four bed dwelling. The commuted sums for
outdoor sports provision range from £600 for a one bed dwelling to £1200 for a four
bed dwelling. These sums take into account factors such as the proposed 3ha
standard, average land values, and average equipment and development costs.
4.12 These financial contributions should go to local projects related to the development.
These could either be new open spaces or improvements to existing open spaces. It is
evident that some smaller parishes will not see many developments and therefore,
contribution for outdoor playing space will be limited for those parishes. Therefore, the
assessment suggests that parishes are grouped, and that contributions from
developments within that group are spent on projects within the group. The parishes
are grouped together by their geography, transport links, population, likelihood of future
development and current provision of outdoor playing space. It is acknowledged that
these proposed groupings of parishes will need to be consulted on with Parish
councils.
4.13 To conclude, the assessment provides detailed evidence around the provision, quality
and accessibility of open space throughout the district. This evidence can be used in
the formation of future Development Plan Documents and Supplementary Planning
Documents. Furthermore the evidence and proposals in this document, with particular
reference to the proposed developer contributions, will help deliver the Breckland Play
Strategy which was resolved by Cabinet on the 17th July 2007.
5.

OPTIONS AVAILABLE

5.1

This Report is for information only and no options are available.

6.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

6.1

To allow the successful progression of the Local Development Framework evidence
base.

7.

RISK

7.1

This report does not require a risk assessment because the changes/issues covered
by the recommendations are not significant in terms of risk.

8.

RECOMMENDATION(S)

8.1

Members to note the contents of this report for their information

Appendices:
Where appropriate, this report has taken account of the need for compliance with
§ The Council’s Equal Opportunities Policies
§ Section 17, Crime & Disorder Act 1998
§ Human Rights Act 1998
§ Section 40, Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006

8

Agenda Item 7

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND REVIEW PANEL 1 - 5 FEBRUARY 2008
REPORT OF THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR (BUSINESS TRANSFORMATION)
(Author: David Spencer – Principal Planning Policy Officer)
BRECKLAND LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK
LANDSCAPE CHARACTER ASSESSMENT
Summary: National and Regional Planning Policy requires Local Planning Authorities
to undertake comprehensive assessments of the landscape character of their areas.
This report informs Members of two studies which collectively provide a detailed
Landscape Character Assessment of the District.
Volume one is a District-wide
Landscape Character Assessment of the rural landscapes across Breckland. Volume
two is a supplementary Settlement Fringe Study which assesses in detail the
landscape at the edge of the five towns and 12 candidate Local Service Centre
villages. The two studies form part of the evidence base for the Local Development
Framework and should be considered as key information for developers and planning
officers in terms of the location, scale and design of new development.

1.

INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND

1.1

Protecting and where possible enhancing the landscape has been a long standing
strand of planning policy and tools to date have included national designations such as
Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONBs) and green belts. At the local level, the
Breckland Local Plan and Norfolk Structure Plan both included a local landscape
designation known as “Area of Important Landscape Quality” (AILQ) and a number of
policies in the Local Plan sought to restrict the scope and scale of development in
these areas. The AILQ in Breckland principally followed the river valleys and the
Brecks in the south-west of the District. Recently it has been difficult to justify the
delineation of the AILQ as there is a lack of detail in how it was drawn up and a general
absence of the precise reasoning behind the boundary it follows.

1.2

This localised approach of elevating parts of the landscape as being more important
than others is no longer endorsed by national planning policy. Planning Policy
Statement 7 (PPS7) recognises that there are many landscape types across the
country and that the key is to understand what makes each part of the landscape
distinct and gives each area its particular sense of place rather than promoting one
type of landscape as being better or more important than another. National and
regional planning policy both advises local planning authorities to undertake
Landscape Character Assessments to better understand the landscape distinctiveness
and sense of place at the local level.

1.3

In September 2006 this Policy Development and Review Panel recommended to
Cabinet that further work be undertaken to support the re-drafting of the Local
Development Framework Core Strategy and Development Control Policies document.
One of the areas of evidence base that the Panel recognised needed to be undertaken
was a comprehensive Landscape Character Assessment. In October 2006 the Council
appointed Land Use Consultants to undertake a two stage Landscape Character
Assessment of the District including a comprehensive district-wide landscape study
and a more detailed assessment of the landscape at the edge of the towns and local
service centre villages. These studies were completed in May 2007 and July 2007
respectively.

9

2.

KEY DECISION

2.1

This is / is not a key decision.

3.

COUNCIL PRIORITIES

3.1

The matter raised in this report falls within the following Council priorities:
•

4.

A well planned place to live which encourages vibrant communities

LANDSCAPE CHARACTER ASSESSMENT

Volume 1 – District Landscape Character Assessment
4.1

The Breckland District Landscape Character Assessment (LCA) is a 350 page report
which has been prepared in accordance with best practice guidance (Countryside
Agency, 2002). The LCA describes and classifies the distinct, recognisable and
consistent pattern elements that make one landscape different from another. The
approach of the LCA is to consider that all landscapes are valuable and seeks to
identify and protect their essential character. The LCA is an important tool in helping to
ensure that change and development does not undermine what ever is characteristic
or valued about a particular place, and that ways of improving the character of a place
can be considered.

4.2

In preparing the LCA, the consultants examined a variety of sources to compile the first
comprehensive assessment of the 131,000 hectares of Breckland District. These
sources included:
-

Geological mapping
topography/landform
Historical mapping (Faden’s 1797 Map of Norfolk)
Extensive site surveys across the District
Ecological mapping
Historical Landscape Characterisation
Current landscape initiatives
Consultation with stakeholders

4.3

The Breckland LCA has identified 6 broad landscape types in the District where there
are physical (i.e. geology, topography) and cultural (human activity) similarities. The 6
broad landscape types are identified in Appendix A as follows: (1) River Valleys; (2)
Settled Tributary Farmland; (3) The Brecks Plantations; (4) The Brecks Heathland with
Plantations; (5) Plateau Farmland; and (6) Chalk Rivers.

4.4

The LCA then subdivides these landscape types into component landscape character
areas. These are discrete geographic areas that possess the common characteristics
described in the landscape type. There are 27 character areas in Breckland each with
a distinct and recognisable local identity and these are identified in Appendix A. The
character areas form the fundamental unit for assessment and for each area there is a
detailed description and evaluation.

4.5

An example of a detailed assessment of a Character area is provided for Swaffham
Heath at Appendix B. Members will note that the assessment contains a description
which outlines the key characteristics in terms of the physical/natural character, the
historic character, settlement and built character and the perceptual visual character.
Importantly, the assessment contains an evaluation in terms of the summarising
positive landscape features of significance and inherent landscape sensitivities or
visual sensitivities. The evaluation also assesses the current state of the landscape
and concludes with an overall landscape strategy followed by detailed guidelines for
both landscape management and in relation to new development.

4.6

In using the LCA it should be noted that the assessment is a strategic study rather than

10

a field by field survey and therefore detailed decisions will need to consider specific
local circumstances. The LCA is also a rural study and does not include any
assessment of the character of the five towns. Importantly, between each character
area there will be a zone of transition and it will be necessary to consider adjoining
character areas when assessing peripheral development proposals.
Volume 2 – Settlement Fringe Study
4.7

This is a more detailed study providing a characterisation and assessment of the
landscape setting of the 5 market towns and 12 proposed Local Service Centre
villages. The characterisation process utilised the data and outputs from the District
Landscape Character Assessment and was augmented by further field survey work.

4.8

A key output of the fringe study has been a more detailed evaluation of the landscape
and visual sensitivities. The Landscape Character Sensitivity work looked at the
existing landscape quality and condition and the sensitivity of individual elements
within the landscape to development. This sensitivity has looked at the natural aspects
such as vegetation, cultural aspects such as built vernacular and aesthetic / perceptual
factors such as tranquillity and containment. The study has also examined the
character of each studied settlement, particularly at the edge of the settlement in terms
of the type, density and scale of development. In addition to the character work, the
fringe study has also assessed the visual sensitivity which includes general views in
and out of the settlement, key landscape features and the mitigation potential should
new development take place at the edge of the settlement.

4.9

The landscape character sensitivity work and the visual sensitivity work has informed
an overall sensitivity judgement for each settlement using a five point scale. A
definition of the sensitivity scale is provided at Appendix C and an example of the
outputs will be presented to Panel Members at the meeting.

4.10 The Fringe Study is a companion volume to the District Landscape Character
Assessment and it is important that developers, officers and Members consider both
volumes. The Fringe Study will mainly form part of the evidence base for the Site
Specific Document but nonetheless has been included on the CD-Rom of evidence as
part of the current LDF
Consultation
4.11 The preparation of the LCA work has involved the Council’s Tree and Landscape
Officer and assistance from Norfolk County Council’s Landscape Architects.
Additionally, the consultants held specific meetings with the Brecks Partnership and
the Wensum Valley Project as well as interviews with the Norfolk Biodiversity
Partnership and Norfolk Ecological Network Mapping Project.
4.12 The LCA has also been informed by two stakeholder workshops held in January 2007
which were attended by a number of District Councillors, Town and Parish Councils
and representatives from landowners, adjoining local authorities and environmental
groups. These workshops helped confirm, re-draw, describe and name the landscape
character areas in the studies.
Proposed Landscape Policy in the Local Development Framework
4.13 The outputs from the LCA work have informed the preparation of the Core Strategy
and Development Control Policies document currently on consultation. Core Policy 9
deals specifically with Protection and enhancement of the Landscape of the District.
Further guidance on landscape assessment is provided in Development Control policy
on amenity and Trees/landscape. These policies are reproduced at Appendix D for
information

11

Next Steps
4.14 The Landscape Character Assessment and the supplementary Settlement Fringe
Study are included on the CD-Rom of supporting evidence that accompanies the
Preferred Options Core Strategy and Development Control Policies document which is
currently out for consultation. Being part of the supporting evidence, the studies are
open to scrutiny through the consultation process and comments can be made on their
adequacy as being the basis for landscape planning policy. Any comments made on
the Landscape Character Assessment documents will be reported to this Panel as part
of the ongoing programme of work on the LDF Core Strategy.
4.15 The studies will be used at the Examinations in Public on the LDF for both the Core
Strategy & Development Control document as well as the Site Specifics document and
Area Action Plans. The evidence in the Landscape Character Assessment should also
be used by developers when preparing development proposals in terms of the location,
scale and design and the studies should also be used by planning officers in assessing
the landscape impact of new developments.
4.16 In addition to these Landscape Character Assessment studies, Members are also
reminded that the Council has jointly prepared with King’s Lynn & West Norfolk
Borough Council an award winning “Landscape Evaluation in relation to Wind Turbine
Development” document which enables detailed assessments of the landscape
capacity to accommodate wind turbines. This study prepared in 2003 by Land Use
Consultants
is
available
on-line
or
as
a
CD-Rom.
5.

OPTIONS AVAILABLE

5.1

This Report is for information only and no options are available.

6.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

6.1

To allow the successful progression of the Local Development Framework evidence
base.

7.

RISK

7.1

This report does not require a risk assessment because the changes/issues covered
by the recommendations are not significant in terms of risk.

8.

RECOMMENDATION(S)

8.1

Members to note the contents of this report for their information

Appendices:
A – Landscape Classification Map of Breckland
B – Example Landscape Character Area assessment (Swaffham Heath)
C – Definitions of Sensitivity from the Settlement Fringe Study
D – Draft LDF Landscape policies
Where appropriate, this report has taken account of the need for compliance with
§ The Council’s Equal Opportunities Policies
§ Section 17, Crime & Disorder Act 1998
§ Human Rights Act 1998
§ Section 40, Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006

12

B6
B6
B7
B7
E9

B6

B7

E9

A4
F1
B7
E8

E7

B6

F1
F1
A5

B6

E6

B5
D1

E5
B5
B4
A2
B4

B5

B8
E4

B2
B3
A3

E3

D2

C1
E2
B2
D3

A1

D3

E2

E1

B1

Breckland LCA

0

3

6 Km

Figure 7.1 Landscape Classification of Breckland
Breckland Boundary
Landscape Character Areas
A - River Valleys
A1: River Thet
A2: Upper Yare
A3: River Wissey
A4: River Wensum and Blackwater
A5: Upper Tud
B - Settled Tributary Farmland
B1: Little Ouse Tributary Farmland

B2: The Buckenhams Tributary Farmland

D1: Swaffham Heath

E7: Beeston Plateau

B3: River Thet Tributary Farmland
B4: River Blackwater Tributary Farmland
B5: River Wissey Tributary Farmland

D2: Stanta Heath
D3: Harling Heathlands
E - Plateau Farmland
E1: Lophams Plateau
E2: Snetterton Heath Plateau

E8: Dereham Plateau
E9: Whissonsett Plateau
F - Chalk Rivers
F1: River Nar Valley
Urban

B6: River Wensum and Tud Tributary Farmland
B7: River Nar Tributary Farmland
B8: Gooderstone to Oxborough Tributary Farmland
C - The Brecks - Plantations
C1: The Brecks of Thetford Forest
D - The Brecks - Heathland with Plantation

13

E3: Old Buckenham Plateau
E4: Wayland Plateau
E5: Central Breckland Plateau
E6: North Pickenham Plateau

Source: Land Use Consultants

Date: 06/06/2007
Revision: B

Reproduced from Ordnance Survey information with the permission of The Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office, Crown Copyright, Land Use Consultants, Licence Number 100019265
File: S:\3900\3956 Breckland LCA\GIS\Themes\ArcGIS9\Report_Maps\3956-01_013_Landscape_Classification_RevB.mxd

D1: SWAFFHAM HEATH

B6
B6
B7

E9

B7

B6

E9

A4
B7

F1
B7

E8

E7

F1

B6

F1
B6

A5

E6

B5

D1

E5

B5
B4
B4
A2
B4
B5

B8
E4

A3
B2
B3
E3

D2
D3
B2

E2
C1
A1

E2
E1
D3

B1

14

15

D1: SWAFFHAM HEATH
Location and Boundaries
D1.1 A large area of the Breckland Heathland with Plantation landscape type located to the
north-west, west and south west of Swaffham, with character defined primarily by
the land use of arable farmland, historic parklands and plantation woodland and
distinctive Scot’s pine belts. To the north the character area boundary is marked by
the adjacent River Nar character area and to the west by the district boundary and a
change in character to a more settled area of farmland and plantations. To the south
and east the landform falls towards the River Wissey.

Key Characteristics
x

Drift deposits of sand, clay and gravel create a gently undulating landscape, with
topography ranging from 10-70m AOD across the character area.

x

Free draining sandy soils support the functional land cover of arable cultivation,
pig farming and plantation woodland.

x

Ancient, contorted scots pine shelterbelts and screening belts of trees provide
shelter to the easily eroded brown soils and are a prominent landscape feature.

x

At Cockleycley Heath and Swaffham Heath, the woodland plantation blocks
create a visually prominent feature in the landscape.

x

The large scale arable fields are delineated by hedgerows in variable condition
from occasional species rich intact hedgerows with hedgerow trees, thorn
hedges and pine lines.

x

Breckland Farmland SSSI covers a large part of the character area – the cultivated
land proving a habitat for stone curlew. A smaller area of Breckland Forest SSSI
also covers part of the area.

x

A large scale landscape, with an open, windswept character, quiet and seemingly
remote in places.

x

Historic parklands and parkland features such as lodge houses, rides/long vistas
and parkland species are evident in the landscape.

x

Sparsely populated - the settlement pattern is characterised by scattered Halls,
farm buildings and a small number of nucleated villages and hamlets. Churches
are often isolated.

x

Distinctive building materials of knapped flint, clunch and brick

x

The areas of open access land associated with plantations at Swaffham Heath and
Coldharbour Wood provide opportunities for recreation.

Landscape Character Assessment of Breckland District
May 2007

201

16

Landscape Type D1:
Swaffham Heath

LANDSCAPE CHARACTER DESCRIPTION
Physical/Natural
D1.2 The character area has an underlying solid chalk geology and a gently undulating
plateau landform covered by a thin layer of glacial drift deposits including boulder
clay and sands and gravels. The covering of drift deposits is shallower than in
adjacent landscape character areas resulting in complex soils typically sandy free
draining mixes of chalk, sand, silt, clay and flints.
D1.3 The light, droughty soils are prone to wind erosion. The geology and soils are
reflected in the species composition of the woodland blocks, with pine being the
main species. The blocks of plantation woodland and coniferous shelter belts have
protected the soil from erosion and has allowed much of the landscape to be given
over to arable production. In addition to arable cultivation, a number of areas are
used for outdoor pig raising.
D1.4 Significant areas of the character area are covered by nature conservation
designations, representing its ecological value. Large blocks of the character area are
designated as part of Breckland Farmland SSSI (SPA), with the arable farmland
notable for supporting almost half the stone curlews in Britain, nesting in the
cultivated land favouring the areas of bare ground and very short vegetation. The
majority of the Breckland Forest SSSI (SPA) lies outside of the character area, but
plantation woodland at Cockleycley Heath and Swaffham Heath are parts of the SSSI.
Gooderstone Warren is designated as a SPA.
D1.5 Field enclosure is provided by hedgerows of various condition and species
composition. Historic, contorted scots pine wind breaks form a strong vertical
feature in the flat landscape, as are localised areas of hedges of fast growing
coniferous species. The grassy banks and field edges are very important to the
conservation of the remnant Breckland grass-heath habitats.
D1.6 The entire character area falls within the ‘Core Area’ as defined by the Ecological
Mapping Project for Norfolk. Core areas represent significant concentrations of high
quality extant habitat. The high quality habitat represented within character area D1
is Breckland Forest and area of remnant heath.

Historic Character
D1.7 Faden’s 1797 Map of Norfolk identifies extensive areas of heathland and common
within the character area, including Beachamwell Warren and Swaffham Heath. At
this time it was an exposed open landscape. These areas have now largely been
planted for commercial forestry and partly absorbed within arable cultivation. The
HLC data (which is partially complete for the area) shows that the three most
significant influences to be piecemeal parliamentary enclosure, 18th-20th century
plantation woodland, and 20th century enclosure, some with resultant boundary loss.
The landscape today, is one of medium to large sized fields often being bounded by
‘gappy’ and degraded hedgerows.
D1.8 Plantations form significant blocks in two areas at Cockleycley Heath and Swaffham
Heath. Conifer planting began in 1922 on areas of heath, and unstable sand dunes
and marginal agriculture. The majority of the initial plantings reached the end of
Landscape Character Assessment of Breckland District
May 2007

202

Landscape Type D1:
Swaffham Heath

17

their first rotation in the mid 1970s. Since then the harvesting of these and
subsequent plantings has created a continuous supply of clear-felled areas and young
plantations.
D1.9 A number of parklands both extant and remnant signify the past wealth of this part
of Breckland, notably the Historic Park and Garden at Pickenham Hall and the
former estate of the now destroyed Didlington Hall. Various parkland elements are
visible within the character area, such as the vista to Cockleycley Hall.

Settlement and Built Character
D1.10 This is a sparsely settled landscape with a remote ‘empty’ quality in places.
Settlement is characterised by a small number of nucleated villages generally located
in proximity to and drawing on the resources of the intervening river valleys, as at
Narborough (River Nar), Hilborough (River Wissey) and Cockley Cley (Gadder). In
addition, there is a general pattern of dispersed farmsteads across the character area.
The local vernacular is red/yellow brick and flint with occasional colour rendered
buildings.

Perceptual/Visual
D1.11 This is a large scale landscape with a strong geometry – with large regular fields
defined by straight rows of Scot’s pine or thorn hedges, interspersed with areas of
conifer plantation. In places this creates a very open, exposed and windswept
landscape. There is a relatively low density of woodland blocks, although where they
do exist, they are large in scale and create a notable feature within the landscape.
D1.12 Views both within the character area and to adjacent character areas are variable. In
places views are distant, to the wooded skylines, to the elevated North Pickenham
Plateau and to the Wissey Valley. However in other locations views are framed or
contained by woodland blocks.
D1.13 The low population density and the large swathes of farmland and woodland create a
peaceful, even remote landscape. Views to the wind turbines north of Swaffham in
the North Pickenham Plateau character area add a sense of movement and activity.
Some noise disturbance from RAF Marham (within the adjoining Borough of Kings
Lynn and West Norfolk) is apparent.

EVALUATION
Positive Landscape Features of Significance and Inherent Landscape
Sensitivities
x

The historic boundary features - distinctive scots pine windbreaks and
hedgerows;

x

Remnant parkland features such as vistas to Cockleycley Hall, flint estate walls
and lodge houses which provide a sense of historical integrity;

x

The varied landcover mosaic created by the plantation woodland and farmland;

x

Sparse settlement and rural character of the hamlets and villages;

Landscape Character Assessment of Breckland District
May 2007

203

18

Landscape Type D1:
Swaffham Heath

x

The narrow, often unmarked rural lanes and tracks;

x

The ecological value of the arable farmland for birds, notably stone curlew;

x

Areas of remnant heathland character.

Visual Sensitivities
D1.14 A predominantly an open large scale landscape with long, open views. Within the
more enclosed wooded areas vistas which were designed into the landscape as
parkland features, have in places been retained. These views create surprise
historical markers within the landscape and would be sensitive to unsympathetic
woodland management.
D1.15 The woodland blocks create an important focus to the landscape, particularly where
views are across arable fields to woodland blocks on the skyline.

Current State of the Landscape
D1.16 This is a functional managed landscape with an eroding character in places due to
loss of characteristic elements, notably heathland, degraded field boundaries, and
changes in farming. The arable farmland provides a valuable habitat for farmland
birds.

Landscape Change
Past Change
x

Agricultural enclosure and loss of heathland, plus further loss of heathland with
decline in grazing;

x

Conversion of parkland and heath/commons to plantation woodland;

x

Declining condition of remaining areas of parkland;

x

Agricultural changes including outdoor pig raising and development of water
storage reservoirs on agricultural land.

x

Decline of distinctive Scot’s pine hedgerows;

x

An increasing influence of traffic upon the landscape character with the inclusion
and widening of the A47, A1122 and A1065.

Future Change
D1.17 Potential future landscape change may result from the implementation of agrienvironment schemes and management to enhance ecological value. Changes in
Forestry Enterprise Strategy, including heathland restoration and renewal may also
have a positive effect on landscape character.

Landscape Character Assessment of Breckland District
May 2007

204

Landscape Type D1:
Swaffham Heath

19

LANDSCAPE STRATEGY
The landscape strategy should be to conserve the remote, open, sparsely settled
character of the Heathland with Plantation landscape– restoring and enhancing the
heathland character where appropriate and managing the arable farmland to enhance
its ecological value, particularly for farmland birds.

Guidelines
Landscape Management
x

Encourage take up of agri-environment schemes to improve the ecological value
of arable farmland and to create habitat connectivity;

x

Conserve and enhance the historic contorted pine wind break hedgerows
through appropriate a management;

x

Consider opportunities for heathland creation on areas where it has been lost,
for example areas of plantation woodland;

x

Ensure that any further recreation provision does not conflict with the sensitive
species and habitats within the Breckland Farmland and Breckland Forest SSSI;

x

Conserve the rides within parklands and plantations which provide attractive
vistas to historic features, including those designated as Historic Parks and
Gardens.

Development Guidelines
x

Conserve the sparse settlement pattern of small villages associated with the
edges of river valley and scattered farms;

x

Ensure that any new built development fits with the local built vernacular,
including use of materials (brick and flint);

x

Conserve the existing rural road network, resisting traffic pressures and traffic
calming measures which could have an urbanising influence;

x

Consider the effect of tall or vertical structures within this very open, exposed
landscape.

Landscape Character Assessment of Breckland District
May 2007

205

20

Landscape Type D1:
Swaffham Heath

21

%UHFNODQG/DQGVFDSH&KDUDFWHU$VVHVVPHQW
'6ZDIIKDP+HDWK

22

Sensitivity Judgement
3.15.

The information set out under the criteria above, allows an overall judgement
on sensitivity to be determined. This judgement is on a five point scale: High,
Moderate-High, Moderate, Moderate-Low and Low. A definition of the
sensitivity scale is provided below:
Table 3.1: Definitions of Sensitivity
High Sensitivity: Key features that make up the landscape are likely to be
affected by introduction of development on the settlement fringes, which may
lead to substantial change in landscape character. A highly valued landscape or
containing highly valued components. A landscape and settlement edge in
good condition/of high quality, with characteristics or elements that make a
strong positive contribution to landscape character. Containing landscape
characteristics/elements that would be irreplaceable or difficult to replace.
The aim should be to conserve the landscape setting of the settlement.
High-Moderate Sensitivity: Many of the key characteristics of the
landscape would be adversely affected by development on the settlement
fringe. A valued landscape in moderate or good condition/or of good quality.
The proposed change would result in a noticeable alteration to the character
of the settlement fringe and its landscape setting.
Moderate Sensitivity: Some key features/characteristics that make up the
landscape/settlement edge are likely to be affected by introduction of
development on the settlement fringe. A moderately valued landscape or
containing moderately valued or some valued elements. A landscape in
moderate/good condition whose characteristics or elements make some
positive contribution to wider landscape character. Containing landscape
characteristics/elements that are likely to be replaceable to some extent. In
considering any change, design and mitigation guidance should be followed.
Moderate-Low Sensitivity: Few key characteristics of the landscape would
be adversely affected by new development/change. The landscape may be able
to accommodate proposed development. Note that elements of this
landscape may be locally valued. In considering any change, design and
mitigation guidance should be followed. Opportunities for enhancement or
creation of new character should be considered in relation to any future
change.
Low Sensitivity: Key features/characteristics that make up the landscape are
unlikely to be affected by introduction of new development /change. A
landscape of limited/low value. A landscape in poor or declining condition
whose characteristics or elements do not contribute positively to wider
landscape character. Containing landscape characteristics/elements that are
likely to be easily replaceable. Opportunities for enhancement or creation of
new character and an enhanced settlement edge should be considered in
relation to any future change.

Breckland District Settlement Fringe Study:
Landscape Assessment
July 2007

Method Statement

23

Appendix D
Breckland Local Development Framework
Landscape Character Assessment
Proposed Landscape Policies
Core Policy 9
Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape of the District
The existing landscape of the District will be protected for the sake of its own
intrinsic beauty and its benefit to the rural character of the District and in
addition in the interests of bio-diversity and geo-diversity. Development within
the district should have particular regard to maintaining the aesthetic and biodiversity qualities of the landscape, including a consideration of individual or
groups of natural features such as trees, hedges and woodland or rivers,
streams or other topographical features.
The enhancement of the District's landscape with particular reference to areas
with public access, such as Thetford Forest Park, will be promoted.
Appropriate management measure will be secured through development or
other mechanisms where appropriate and benefits are achievable.

Development Control Policy 1
Protection of Amenity
For all new developments consideration will need to be given to the impact
upon amenity. Development will not be permitted where there are
unacceptable effects on the amenities of the area or the residential amenity of
neighbouring occupants, or future occupants of the development site. When
considering the impact of the development in terms of the amenities of the
area and residential amenity, regard will be had to the following issues;
a. Overlooking and/or privacy loss
b. Dominance or overshadowing
c. Odour, noise or vibration
d. Other forms of pollution (including contaminated land, light pollution or
the emission of particulates).
e. Important features or characteristics of the area; or,
f. Aesthetic qualities of the landscape or townscape.

24

Development Control Policy 13
Trees and Landscape
The landscape of the district will be protected for the sake of its intrinsic
character and beauty, the diversity of its landscape, heritage and wildlife. For
all development proposals regard will need to be had to the impact of the
development upon the district’s landscape with particular reference made to
the Landscape Character Assessment and Landscape Character Assessment
Fringe Study. Development which fails to protect or enhance the character of
the landscape of the district will not be permitted.
Trees, hedgerows and other natural features across the district will be
protected from development. Where the loss of a tree(s), hedgerow(s) or
other natural feature(s) is unavoidable and would be detrimental to the
character and appearance of the area the council will expect a replacement to
be provided. Conditions and/or planning obligations will be used to secure the
replacement of trees, hedgerows or other natural features or their protection
during the course of development.

25

Agenda Item 8

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND REVIEW PANEL 1 - 5 FEBRUARY 2008
REPORT OF THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR (BUSINESS TRANSFORMATION)
(Author: Miss Jamie Smith – Environmental Planning Assistant)
PLANNING POLICY STATEMENT: PLANNING AND CLIMATE CHANGE –
SUPPLEMENT TO PLANNING POLICY STATEMENT 1

Summary: This paper provides Members with the key changes and implications for
Breckland Council that arise as a result of the recently published supplementary
Planning Policy Statement in Planning and Climate Change. The report considers the
issues of reducing carbon emissions and stabilising climate change and how the
spatial planning system can contribute towards these objectives. The Statement is
now a material planning consideration in the determination of planning applications
and the preparation of the Council’s Local Development Framework.

1.

INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND

1.1

Planning Policy Statement 1 (PPS1) sets out planning polices on the delivery of
sustainable development through the planning system. This document is a
supplement to PPS1 by setting out how planning should contribute to reducing
emissions and stabilising climate change.

1.2

The Planning White Paper “Planning for a sustainable Future”, published in 2007 has
emphasised the importance of the planning system in delivering sustainable
development in terms of housing delivery, business development, and infrastructure.
To enable a prosperous economy and quality of life, planning is seen as playing a key
role in helping to tackle climate change.

2.

KEY DECISION

2.1

This is not a key decision.

3.

COUNCIL PRIORITIES

3.1

The matter raised in this report falls within the following Council priorities:
•

A safe and healthy environment

• A well planned place to live which encourages vibrant communities
4.

IMPLICATIONS OF SUPPLEMENTARY PPS1 FOR BRECKLAND

4.1

Sustainable development continues to remain at the heart of this supplement to PPS1,
and sets out how Local Authority planning can best support the achievement of carbon
zero targets in tandem with the achievement of social, economic and housing
development.

4.2

One of the key objectives through this document is the delivery of ‘sustainable
development’ through the preparation, management and delivery of Local Authorities
spatial strategies which should achieve an appropriate response to climate change.
The statement sets out a number of key planning objectives that Local Authorities
should consider when preparing their spatial strategies, which places significant
importance on energy efficiency measures that reduce emissions when providing for
homes, jobs, services and infrastructure within Breckland. Another key objective is to

26

secure sustainable urban and rural growth and development, encouraging sustainable
modes of transport other than by car, which in turn encourages the contribution for
renewable and low carbon energy sources.
4.3

The statement suggests a number of guiding principles for Local Authorities to apply
through Spatial Strategies in order to tackling climate change. These principles
highlight the need for appropriate spatial distribution, location and design of new
developments in order to limit carbon dioxide emissions. The use of decentralised and
renewable or low carbon energy for new development is encouraged. (“Decentralised
energy supply is energy supply from local renewable or local carbon sources (on site
and near site but not remote of site), usually on a relatively small scale and
decentralised is a broad tem to denote a diverse range of technologies which can
serve individual buildings, developments and the wider community”). Spatial strategies
are expected produce robust sustainability appraisals (incorporating strategic
environmental assessments) which underpin and support the key planning and
strategic approach that is being undertaken by Local Authorities.

4.4

Breckland’s Core Strategy for the Local Development Framework should be in
conformity with the RSS (Regional Spatial Strategy). The RSS provides a spatial
framework, to which tackling climate change forms an important criterion for planning
bodies to address through their spatial strategies.

4.5

Local Authorities should ensure that targets set for renewable energy generation are
consistent with Regional and Governmental targets. The achievement of reducing the
impact on climate change through sustainable planning and encouragement of
renewable and low carbons sources of energy supply must take account of water
resources and avoid new development within vulnerable areas. This statement
indicates the importance of the LDF Core Strategy achieving the planning objectives
within this PPS, but also the interrelationship between the Core Strategy and other
strategies, especially Breckland’s Sustainable Community Strategy.

4.6

A significant issue for Breckland is the provision of a framework within the Core
Strategy that encourages renewable and low carbon energy generation without
restricting technologies and innovation; whilst ensuring that any approach is consistent
with the protection of landscape and townscape as specified in PPS22 (Planning and
Renewable Energy). This statement considers that it would be prudent to identify
suitable sites for renewable and low carbon energy sources and expects that a
proportion of energy supply is secured from decentralised and renewable and low
carbon energy sources. This has a clear implication for the development and
implementation of the Core Strategy and Development and Control policies within its
strategic approach and allocations.

4.7

The statement gives greater emphasis to Local Development Orders (LDO’s) to secure
renewable and low carbon energy supply systems by means of the provision of
additional permitted development rights, and to bring forward a particular site for the
use for renewables if required. When identifying sites for potential development a
criteria based approach in terms of its sustainability should be adopted in order to
address its suitability to be sustainable without detrimental results. In order for
Breckland to implement renewables measures within the core strategy is it expected
that there is a competent understanding of renewable and low carbon technologies in
order to understand their implementation. This would enable Local Authorities should
set out a percentage of the energy to be used in new development to come from
decentralised and renewable low carbon energy sources where viable, including size
and type of development and if the opportunity arises encourage above and beyond
the target figure which should be set within the Core Strategy.

4.8

The statement encourages the delivery of sustainable buildings and the reduction of
carbon emissions from domestic and non domestic buildings. It is advocated that

27

where Local Authorities in advance can anticipate levels of buildings need via local
requirement then this should be taken account of in planning for the use of renewable
or low carbon energy as well as water efficiency measures. This will have an
implication for Breckland in particular regard to Thetford Growth Point status where
Breckland can proactively implement targets and requirements for new development
schemes within the Thetford Area Action Plan.
4.9

This statement actively encourages policies which support innovation and investment
in sustainable buildings and the strategy and policies with the DPD should help to
achieve National and Regional targets for the reduction of carbon emissions form
domestic and non-domestic buildings. Any policy relating to local requirement for
decentralised energy supply to new developments for sustainable buildings should be
set up in a DPD. This has a clear implication as any proposal and would need to
ensure its viability having regards to cost implications of bringing sites forward. This
would include consideration for infrastructure and any adverse impact on the
development needs for local communities. Any policy approach to enable renewable
and low carbon sources for new housing schemes would need to comply with PPS3
and would not inhibit affordable housing.

4.10 As with existing conformity and compliance with government guidance annual
monitoring forms part of a strategy and enables measurable changes in order to
understand and establish whether the strategy is securing a responsive action to
climate change. Reviews and annual monitoring should be undertaken to reflect
updates to National Climate Change Programme or sooner if it is established that the
spatial strategy is insufficiently contributing to the key planning objectives of this PPS.
4.11 The statement encourages and provides greater emphasis on the use of design and
access statements in order to establish the conformity with the DPD and any criteria
that should be adhered to enable a sustainable development. The polices within this
statement are capable of being a material consideration on planning applications and it
is emphasised that where there is any difference on climate change between policies
in this PPS as others in the national serried that this PPS takes precedence.
4.12 Finally, this statement encourages measures to reduce carbon dioxide emission from
homes and encourage sustainable building methods and materials and how best
planning can support a the achievements of carbon zero, however it needs to be noted
that buildings regulations do have a large part to play in the achievement of
sustainability. This statement indicates that ‘Building a Green Future, planning for
Sustainable Future 2007’, sets out a recommendation to tighten Building regulations to
require a reduction in carbon emissions for new homes to carbon zero by 2016. To
date there are similar ambitions from Government but as yes proposals have not been
set.
5.
5.1

OPTIONS AVAILABLE
This Report is for information only and no options are available.

6.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

6.1

To facilitate further discussion of the issues raised by Supplementary PPS1 for the
Development Control service and the emerging Local Development Framework.

7.

RISK

7.1

The Risk Management questionnaire has been completed and this report does not
require a risk assessment because the changes/issues covered by the
recommendations are not significant in terms of risk.

8.

RECOMMENDATION(S)

28

8.1

Members to note the contents of this report for their information

Appendices:
A – Planning Policy Statement: Planning and Climate Change – Supplement to Planning
Policy Statement 1

Where appropriate, this report has taken account of the need for compliance with
§ The Council’s Equal Opportunities Policies
§ Section 17, Crime & Disorder Act 1998
§ Human Rights Act 1998
§ Section 40, Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006

29

Planning shapes the places where people live and
work and the country we live in. It plays a key role
in supporting the Government’s wider social,
environmental and economic objectives and for
sustainable communities.

PLANNING
Planning Policy Statement:
Planning and Climate Change
Supplement to Planning Policy Statement 1

December 2007

30

31

Planning Policy Statement:
Planning and Climate Change
Supplement to Planning Policy Statement 1

London: TSO

32

© Crown Copyright 2007
Copyright in the typographical arrangement and design and rests with
the Crown
Published for the Department for Communities and Local Government, under licence from
the Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office.
This publication excluding logos, may be reproduced free of charge in any
format or medium for research, private study or for internal circulation
within an organisation. This is subject to it being reproduced accurately
and not in a misleading context. The material must be acknowledged as
Crown copyright and the title of the publication specified.
For any other use of this material please write to The HMSO Licensing
Division, HMSO, St Clements House, 2-16 Colegate, Norwich NR3 1BQ.
Fax 01603 723000 or email: licencing@cabinet-office.x.gsi.gov.uk
ISBN 978 0 11 7539787
Printed in the United Kingdom for the Stationery Office.
N 172192 C30 12/07
Reference no: 07 COMM 05006

75%
33

PLANNING POLICY STATEMENT: PLANNING AND CLIMATE CHANGE |

PLANNING POLICY STATEMENT:
PLANNING AND CLIMATE CHANGE
Planning Policy Statements (PPS) set out the Government’s national policies on different
aspects of spatial planning in England. PPS1 sets out the overarching planning policies on
the delivery of sustainable development through the planning system.
This PPS on climate change supplements PPS1 by setting out how planning should
contribute to reducing emissions and stabilising climate change and take into account the
unavoidable consequences. It does not seek to assemble all national planning policy
relevant or applicable to climate change and should be read alongside the national PPS/G
series. Where there is any difference in emphasis on climate change between the policies in
this PPS and others in the national series this is intentional and this PPS takes precedence.
Tackling climate change is a key Government priority for the planning system. The
ambition and policies in this PPS should therefore be fully reflected by regional planning
bodies in the preparation of Regional Spatial Strategies1, by the Mayor of London in
relation to the Spatial Development Strategy in London and by planning authorities in the
preparation of Local Development Documents. Similarly, applicants for planning
permission should consider how well their proposals for development contribute to the
Government’s ambition of a low-carbon economy and how well adapted they are for the
expected effects of climate change. Applicants and planning authorities should bear in
mind that the policies in this PPS are capable of being material to decisions on planning
applications.
A companion guide provides practice guidance and support for the implementation of the
policies in this PPS.

1

The Review of sub-national economic development and regeneration was published in July 2007 and
proposed a move to a single regional strategy produced by the regional development agency. There
will be further consultation on this proposal, which could be implemented in 2010. All references to
Regional Spatial Strategies in this statement shall be taken to mean ‘RSS or successor single regional
strategy’.

34

1

2

PLANNING POLICY STATEMENT: PLANNING AND CLIMATE CHANGE |

35

PLANNING POLICY STATEMENT: PLANNING AND CLIMATE CHANGE |

3

Contents

Glossary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

5

Climate Change and Planning . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

8

Key Planning Objectives . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

10

Decision-Making Principles . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

10

Regional Spatial Strategy . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

12

Preparing the Regional Spatial Strategy. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

12

Integrating climate change . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

12

Managing performance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

13

Providing the evidence base . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

14

Local Development Documents. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

14

The core strategy . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

14

Renewable and low-carbon energy generation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

14

Local development orders . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

15

Selecting land for development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

15

Local requirements for decentralised energy to supply new development

16

Local requirements for sustainable buildings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

17

Testing local requirements. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

18

Monitoring and Review. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

18

Determining Planning Applications . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

19

Designing environmental performance into proposed development . .

19

Safeguarding environmental performance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

21

Planning conditions and obligations. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

21

Compliance and enforcement . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

21

Annex – London . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

22

36

4

PLANNING POLICY STATEMENT: PLANNING AND CLIMATE CHANGE |

37

PLANNING POLICY STATEMENT: PLANNING AND CLIMATE CHANGE |

5

Glossary
The glossary provides explanations of certain words and terms used in this PPS in order to
assist with clarity on their meaning as used in the PPS.
Adaptation
Involves adjustments to natural or human systems in response to actual or expected
climatic stimuli or their effects, which moderates harm or exploits beneficial opportunities.
Carbon sinks
Atmospheric carbon in the form of carbon dioxide is captured and stored in living (trees
and other green vegetation) or non-living reservoirs (soil, geological formations, oceans,
wood products). Land uses which absorb and store carbon over long periods of time
(‘carbon sinks’) may help to offset carbon dioxide emissions, at least in the short to
medium term.
Climate change scenario
A coherent and internally consistent description of the change in climate by a certain time
in the future, using a specific modelling technique and under specific assumptions about
the growth of greenhouse gas and other emissions and about other factors that may
influence climate in the future.
Combined Heat and Power/Combined Cooling Heat and Power (CHP/
CCHP)
The simultaneous generation of usable heat and power (usually electricity) in a single
process, thereby reducing wasted heat and putting to use heat that would normally be
wasted to the atmosphere, rivers or seas. CHP is an efficient form of decentralised energy
supply providing heating and electricity at the same time. CHP’s overall fuel efficiency can
be around 70-90% of the input fuel, depending on heat load; much better than most power
stations which are only up to around 40-50% efficient.
Decentralised energy supply
Energy supply from local renewable and local low-carbon sources (ie on-site and near-site,
but not remote off-site) usually on a relatively small scale. Decentralised energy is a broad
term used to denote a diverse range of technologies, including micro-renewables, which can
locally serve an individual building, development or wider community and includes heating
and cooling energy.

38

6

PLANNING POLICY STATEMENT: PLANNING AND CLIMATE CHANGE |

Decentralised and renewable or low-carbon energy
Decentralised renewable energy or decentralised low-carbon energy or a combination of
decentralised renewable energy and decentralised low-carbon energy.
Development area
Part of a planning authority’s area where development is anticipated, which could be an
urban extension or town centre.
Emissions
The release of greenhouse gases into the atmosphere. Greenhouse gases ‘trap’ energy
radiated by the Earth within the atmosphere and include carbon dioxide (CO2), methane,
nitrous oxide and fluorinated gases. Carbon dioxide is the main greenhouse gas in the UK
and references to carbon dioxide emissions in this PPS are intentional.
Energy efficiency
Making the best or most efficient use of energy in order to achieve a given output of goods
or services, and of comfort and convenience.
Mitigation
Involves taking action to reduce the impact of human activity on the climate system,
primarily through reducing greenhouse gas emissions.
Renewable and low-carbon energy
Includes energy for heating and cooling as well as generating electricity. Renewable energy
covers those energy flows that occur naturally and repeatedly in the environment – from
the wind, the fall of water, the movement of the oceans, from the sun and also from
biomass. Low-carbon technologies are those that can help reduce carbon emissions.
Renewable and/or low-carbon energy supplies include, but not exclusively, those from
biomass and energy crops; CHP/CCHP (and micro-CHP); waste heat that would otherwise
be generated directly or indirectly from fossil fuel; energy-from-waste; ground source
heating and cooling; hydro; solar thermal and photovoltaic generation; wind generation.
Sustainable drainage systems
Alternatives to the traditional ways of managing runoff from buildings and hardstandings.
They are designed to improve the rate and manner of absorption by water of hard and soft
surfaces, in order to reduce the total amount, flow and rate of surface water that runs
directly to rivers through stormwater systems.

39

PLANNING POLICY STATEMENT: PLANNING AND CLIMATE CHANGE |

7

Urban cooling
Moderating high summer temperatures, through for example the layout of urban open
space and shading from trees. Climate change will exacerbate the temperature gradient that
rises from the rural fringe and peaks in city centres. This is described as ‘the urban heat
island’ because the warmer urban air lies in a ‘sea’ of cooler rural air.

40

8

PLANNING POLICY STATEMENT: PLANNING AND CLIMATE CHANGE |

CLIMATE CHANGE AND PLANNING
“Climate change represents a potentially catastrophic threat, but it is within our
control to address it – and address it we must.”2
1.

There is a compelling scientific consensus that human activity is changing the world’s
climate. The evidence that climate change is happening, and that man-made emissions are
its main cause, is strong and indisputable. The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate
Change3 highlights that we are already experiencing the effects of climate change and if
these changes deepen and intensify, as they will without the right responses locally and
globally, we will see even more extreme impacts.

2.

In the UK, we are likely to see more extreme weather events, including hotter and drier
summers, flooding and rising sea-levels increasing the risk of coastal erosion. There will be
permanent changes in the natural environment but also, and increasingly, substantial
challenges to national prosperity and social cohesion. Globally, it is quite likely that the
impacts of climate change will be felt first, and disproportionately so, by the most
vulnerable in society.

3.

The Government believes that climate change is the greatest long-term challenge facing the
world today. Addressing climate change is therefore the Government’s principal concern for
sustainable development. Policies and priorities for action, both in the UK and
internationally, are set out in the Climate Change Programme4 and the 2007 Energy White
Paper5.

4.

The UK is on track to meet, and even exceed, its commitment under the Kyoto Protocol to
reduce emissions of greenhouse gases to 12.5 per cent below 1990 levels by 2008-12.
Averting dangerous climate change, however, is a huge challenge that requires more
pronounced and continuing cuts in emissions. The Government has, therefore, put forward
a Climate Change Bill which would put into statute the UK’s targets to reduce carbon
dioxide emissions, through domestic and international action, to 26-32% below 1990 levels
by 2020 and to at least 60 per cent by 2050.

2

3
4
5

Foreword by the then Prime Minister Rt. Hon. Tony Blair MP. Securing the Future. The UK Government
Sustainable Development Strategy (2005) Cm6467
See the Summary for Policy Makers of the 4th Annual Report (November 2007) at http://www.ipcc.ch/
Climate Change The UK Programme (2006) Cm6764
Meeting the Energy Challenge (2007) Cm7124

41

PLANNING POLICY STATEMENT: PLANNING AND CLIMATE CHANGE |

9

5.

Even with effective policies for reducing emissions in place, the world will still experience
significant climate change over the coming decades from emissions of carbon dioxide and
other greenhouse gases already released. Changes in climate are likely to have far-reaching,
and potentially adverse, effects on our environment, economy and society for which we
need to prepare and adjust.

6.

There is therefore an urgent need for action on climate change.

7.

The Planning White Paper6 has emphasised the fundamental importance of planning in
delivering sustainable development in a changing global context. It is central to the delivery
of the new homes that are needed; it supports the business development necessary to create
jobs and prosperity; and, enables the delivery of the infrastructure which provides access
for everyone to essential transport, energy and water and underpins sustainable
communities. In making this contribution to a prosperous economy and to a high quality
of life for all, planning has a key role in helping to tackle climate change. Used positively, it
has a pivotal and significant role in helping to:
– secure enduring progress against the UK’s emissions targets, by direct influence on
energy use and emissions, and in bringing together and encouraging action by others;
– deliver the Government’s ambition of zero carbon development;
– shape sustainable communities that are resilient to and appropriate for the climate
change now accepted as inevitable;
– create an attractive environment for innovation and for the private sector to bring
forward investment, including in renewable and low-carbon technologies and
supporting infrastructure; and
– capture local enthusiasm and give local communities real opportunities to influence,
and take, action on climate change.

8.

The planning system needs to support the delivery of the timetable for reducing carbon
emissions from domestic and non-domestic buildings. Building a Greener Future7 sets out a
progressive tightening of Building Regulations to require major reductions in carbon
emissions from new homes to get to zero carbon by 2016. There are similar ambitions to
cut carbon emissions from new non-domestic buildings8. This PPS sets out how regional
and local planning can best support achievement of the zero-carbon targets alongside
meeting community needs for economic and housing development.

6
7
8

Planning for a Sustainable Future (2007) Cm7120
Building a Greener Future: policy statement (2007)
We will set out proposals for new non-domestic buildings in due course

42

10

PLANNING POLICY STATEMENT: PLANNING AND CLIMATE CHANGE |

KEY PLANNING OBJECTIVES
9.

To deliver sustainable development, and in doing so a full and appropriate response on
climate change, regional planning bodies and all planning authorities should prepare, and
manage the delivery of, spatial strategies that:
– make a full contribution to delivering the Government’s Climate Change Programme
and energy policies, and in doing so contribute to global sustainability;
– in providing for the homes, jobs, services and infrastructure needed by communities,
and in renewing and shaping the places where they live and work, secure the highest
viable resource and energy efficiency and reduction in emissions;
– deliver patterns of urban growth and sustainable rural developments that help secure
the fullest possible use of sustainable transport for moving freight, public transport,
cycling and walking; and, which overall, reduce the need to travel, especially by car9;
– secure new development and shape places that minimise vulnerability, and provide
resilience, to climate change; and in ways that are consistent with social cohesion and
inclusion;
– conserve and enhance biodiversity, recognising that the distribution of habitats and
species will be affected by climate change;
– reflect the development needs and interests of communities and enable them to
contribute effectively to tackling climate change; and
– respond to the concerns of business and encourage competitiveness and technological
innovation in mitigating and adapting to climate change.

DECISION-MAKING PRINCIPLES
10.

Regional planning bodies and all planning authorities should apply the following principles
in making decisions about their spatial strategies:
– the proposed provision for new development, its spatial distribution, location and
design should be planned to limit carbon dioxide emissions;
– new development should be planned to make good use of opportunities for
decentralised and renewable or low carbon energy10;
– new development should be planned to minimise future vulnerability in a changing
climate;
– climate change considerations should be integrated into all spatial planning concerns;

9
10

See paragraph 25
See glossary

43

PLANNING POLICY STATEMENT: PLANNING AND CLIMATE CHANGE |

11

– mitigation and adaptation should not be considered independently of each other, and
new development should be planned with both in mind;
– sustainability appraisal (incorporating strategic environmental assessment) should be
applied to shape planning strategies and policies that support the Key Planning
Objectives; and
– appropriate indicators should be selected for monitoring and reporting on in regional
planning bodies’ and planning authorities’ annual monitoring reports. Such monitoring
should be the basis on which regional planning bodies and planning authorities
periodically review and roll forward their planning strategies.
11.

Planning authorities should adhere to the following principles in determining planning
applications:
– controls under the planning, building control and other regulatory regimes should
complement and not duplicate each other;
– information sought from applicants should be proportionate to the scale of the
proposed development, its likely impact on and vulnerability to climate change, and be
consistent with that needed to demonstrate conformity with the development plan and
this PPS;
– specific and standalone assessments of new development should not be required where
the requisite information can be made available to the planning authority through the
submitted Design and Access Statement, or forms part of any environmental impact
assessment or other regulatory requirement; and
– in considering planning applications before Regional Spatial Strategies (RSSs) and
Development Plan Documents (DPDs) can be updated to reflect this PPS, planning
authorities should have regard to this PPS as a material consideration which may
supersede the policies in the development plan11. Any refusal of planning permission on
grounds of prematurity because a DPD is being prepared or is under review but has not
yet been adopted should be consistent with Government policy12.

11

12

The development plan will comprise the RSS (or in London the Spatial Development Strategy),
adopted DPDs and any local policies which have been ‘saved’ during the transitional period between
the old system of unitary development plans, structure plans and local plans and the new system of
local development documents
See ODPM (2005) The Planning System: General Principles and, in the case of housing, (2006)
Planning Policy Statement 3: Housing paragraph 72

44

12

PLANNING POLICY STATEMENT: PLANNING AND CLIMATE CHANGE |

REGIONAL SPATIAL STRATEGY
Preparing the Regional Spatial Strategy
12.

Bearing in mind the RSS provides a spatial framework which both informs, and in turn is
informed by, other strategies and programmes in the region, it is important that regional
planning bodies should work with all stakeholders in the region and alongside their
constituent planning authorities to develop a realistic and responsible approach to
addressing climate change. In doing so, they should:
– consider how the region’s activities contribute to climate change;
– consider how the spatial strategy will support any regional targets on climate change
developed through the region’s economic strategy and sustainable development
framework;
– consider the region’s vulnerability to climate change using, for example, the most recent
climate change scenarios available from the UK Climate Change Impacts Programme
(UKCIP)13, and specifically the implications for built development, infrastructure and
services14 and biodiversity;
– work with neighbouring regions and countries to address joint concerns; and
– encourage working across local authority boundaries so as to secure effective local
approaches.
Integrating climate change

13.

Climate change should be a key and integrating theme of the RSS and be addressed in
conjunction with the economic, social and environmental concerns that together inform
the overall spatial strategy and its components. In particular, regional planning bodies
should:
– pay attention to the location of major generators of travel, the effect of differing patterns
of urban growth and sustainable rural development on the movement of goods and the
potential to build into new and existing development more efficient means of energy
supply and increasing contributions from renewable and low-carbon energy sources;
– provide a framework for sub-regional and local planning to focus substantial new
development on locations with good accessibility by means other than the private car
and where energy can be gained from decentralised energy supply15 systems, or where
there is clear potential for this to be realised;

13
14
15

UK Climate Change Impacts Programme (UKCIP) at www.ukcip.org.uk
In particular, see CLG (2006) Planning Policy Statement 25: Development and Flood Risk
See glossary

45

PLANNING POLICY STATEMENT: PLANNING AND CLIMATE CHANGE |

13

– ensure opportunities for renewable and low-carbon sources of energy supply and
supporting infrastructure, including decentralised energy supply systems, are maximised;
– set regional targets for renewable energy generation in line with PPS2216, and ensure
their ambition fully reflects opportunities in the region, are consistent with the
Government’s national targets and, where appropriate in the light of delivery, are
periodically revised upwards;
– recognise the potential of, and encourage, those land uses and land management
practices that help secure carbon sinks;
– consider and take account of the availability of water resources;
– consider the desirability of avoiding new development in those areas with likely
increased vulnerability to the effects of climate change, particularly where it is not viable
to manage likely risks through suitable measures to provide resilience; and
– bring forward adaptation options for existing development in likely vulnerable areas.
Managing performance
14.

Regional planning bodies should consider the likely performance of the RSS on mitigating
climate change and in adapting to the impacts of likely changes to the climate. This should
be a key part of the sustainability appraisal, which should be used to identify and evaluate
possible tensions or inconsistencies between current, or likely future, baseline conditions
and securing a RSS in line with the Key Planning Objectives in this PPS17.

15.

In their approach to managing performance, regional planning bodies should consider the
provision of clear yardsticks against which future trends can be measured. Targets, and
trajectories, can be helpful in assessing successful implementation but only when their
likely achievement derives directly or substantially from identified policies in the RSS and
the likely means of delivery is consistent with other objectives in the RSS.

16.

Strategic targets, including any developed for cutting carbon dioxide emissions, and
trajectories used to identify trends in performance form part of the framework for planning
decisions provided by the RSS. They should be used as a strategic tool for shaping policies
and contributing to the annual monitoring and reporting expected of regional planning
bodies. They should not be applied directly to individual planning applications. If there is
consistent under-performance against the planned outcomes, the Secretary of State will
expect urgent consideration to be given to an early revision of the RSS and means of
implementation.

16
17

See paragraphs 2-5 of ODPM (2004) Planning Policy Statement 22: Renewable Energy
See ODPM (2005) Sustainability Appraisal of Regional Spatial Strategies and Local Development
Documents

46

14

PLANNING POLICY STATEMENT: PLANNING AND CLIMATE CHANGE |

Providing the evidence base
17.

Regional planning bodies should be able to demonstrate that the spatial strategy, including
any targets or trajectories, is properly supported by an evidence base comprising
appropriate data and information on climate change within the region. Where an
appropriate body is already collecting and assembling data on climate change, regional
planning bodies should wherever practicable draw advice from this and not duplicate
existing structures and work.

LOCAL DEVELOPMENT DOCUMENTS
The core strategy
18.

Planning authorities should consider the opportunities for the core strategy to add to the
policies and proposals in the RSS, such as where local circumstances would allow further
progress to be made to achieving the Key Planning Objectives set out in this PPS. In doing
so, the core strategy should be informed by, and in turn inform, local strategies on climate
change including the sustainable community strategy18.
Renewable and low-carbon energy generation

19.

In developing their core strategy and supporting local development documents, planning
authorities should provide a framework that promotes and encourages renewable and lowcarbon energy generation. Policies should be designed to promote and not restrict
renewable and low-carbon energy and supporting infrastructure.

20.

In particular, planning authorities should:
– not require applicants for energy development to demonstrate either the overall need
for renewable energy and its distribution, nor question the energy justification for why a
proposal for such development must be sited in a particular location19;
– ensure any local approach to protecting landscape and townscape is consistent with
PPS22 and does not preclude the supply of any type of renewable energy other than in
the most exceptional circumstances20;
– alongside any criteria-based policy developed in line with PPS22, consider identifying
suitable areas for renewable and low-carbon energy sources, and supporting
infrastructure, where this would help secure the development of such sources, but in
doing so take care to avoid stifling innovation including by rejecting proposals solely
because they are outside areas identified for energy generation; and
18

19
20

See the new performance indicators on climate change http://www.communities.gov.uk/
localgovernment/performanceframeworkpartnerships/nationalindicators/
See paragraph 5.3.67 of Meeting the Energy Challenge (2007) Cm7124
See Key Principles in ODPM (2004) Planning Policy Statement 22 Renewable Energy

47

PLANNING POLICY STATEMENT: PLANNING AND CLIMATE CHANGE |

15

– expect a proportion of the energy supply of new development to be secured from
decentralised and renewable or low-carbon energy sources.
Local development orders
21.

Planning authorities should give positive consideration to the use of local development
orders (LDO) to secure renewable and low-carbon energy supply systems. LDOs could be
used to provide additional permitted development rights across the whole of a planning
authority’s area. LDOs could also be used to grant permission for certain types of
development in parts of a planning authority’s area.

22.

An LDO could also be development area or site specific to bring forward development of a
particular site or sites. In practice, to ensure that such LDOs deliver the right type of
development their use should be complemented by guidance, including design codes,
produced by the planning authority and in line with this PPS.
Selecting land for development

23.

In deciding which areas and sites are suitable, and for what type and intensity of development,
planning authorities should assess their consistency with the policies in this PPS.

24.

In doing so, planning authorities should take into account:
– the extent to which existing or planned opportunities for decentralised and renewable or
low-carbon energy could contribute to the energy supply of development;
– whether there is, or the potential for, a realistic choice of access by means other than the
private car and for opportunities to service the site through sustainable transport;
– the capacity of existing and potential infrastructure (including for water supply, sewage
and sewerage, waste management and community infrastructure such as schools and
hospitals) to service the site or area in ways consistent with cutting carbon dioxide
emissions and successfully adapting to likely changes in the local climate;
– the ability to build and sustain socially cohesive communities with appropriate
community infrastructure, having regard to the full range of local impacts that could
arise as a result of likely changes to the climate;
– the effect of development on biodiversity and its capacity to adapt to likely changes in
the climate;
– the contribution to be made from existing and new opportunities for open space and
green infrastructure to urban cooling, sustainable drainage systems, and conserving and
enhancing biodiversity; and
– known physical and environmental constraints on the development of land such as sealevel rises, flood risk and stability, and take a precautionary approach to increases in risk
that could arise as a result of likely changes to the climate.

48

16

PLANNING POLICY STATEMENT: PLANNING AND CLIMATE CHANGE |

25.

In deciding on areas and sites to identify for development, priority should be given to those
that will perform well against the criteria set out in paragraph 24. Where areas and sites
perform poorly, planning authorities should consider whether their performance could be
improved. When considering the need to secure sustainable rural development, including
employment and affordable housing opportunities to meet the needs of local people,
planning authorities should recognise that a site may be acceptable even though it may not
be readily accessible other than by the private car.
Local requirements for decentralised energy to supply new development

26.

Planning authorities should have an evidence-based understanding of the local feasibility
and potential for renewable and low-carbon technologies, including microgeneration, to
supply new development in their area. This may require them, working closely with
industry and drawing in other appropriate expertise, to make their own assessments.
Drawing from this evidence-base, and ensuring consistency with housing and economic
objectives, planning authorities should:
(i)

set out a target percentage of the energy to be used in new development to come from
decentralised and renewable or low-carbon energy sources21 where it is viable. The
target should avoid prescription on technologies and be flexible in how carbon savings
from local energy supplies are to be secured;

(ii)

where there are particular and demonstrable opportunities for greater use of
decentralised and renewable or low-carbon energy than the target percentage, bring
forward development area22 or site-specific targets to secure this potential;

and, in bringing forward targets,
(iii) set out the type and size of development to which the target will be applied; and
(iv) ensure there is a clear rationale for the target and it is properly tested23.
27.

In considering a development area or site-specific target, planning authorities should pay
particular attention to opportunities for utilizing existing decentralised and renewable or
low-carbon energy supply systems and to fostering the development of new opportunities
to supply proposed and existing development. Such opportunities could include co-locating
potential heat customers and heat suppliers. Where there are existing decentralised energy
supply systems, or firm proposals, planning authorities can expect proposed development
to connect to an identified system, or be designed to be able to connect in future. In such
instances and in allocating land for development, planning authorities can set out how the
proposed development would be expected to contribute to securing the decentralised
energy supply system from which it would benefit.
21
22
23

See glossary
See glossary
See paragraph 33

49

PLANNING POLICY STATEMENT: PLANNING AND CLIMATE CHANGE |

17

28.

When specifying requirements for new development to secure energy from decentralised
and renewable or low-carbon energy sources, planning authorities can set specific
requirements to facilitate connection. Any requirement must be fair and reasonable and, in
particular, not restrict those with responsibility for providing energy to new development,
or the occupiers, to any one energy provider in perpetuity.

29.

Well-founded development area and site-specific targets drawn up in line with this PPS
may expect significant proportions of the energy supply of new development to be secured
from decentralised and renewable or low-carbon energy sources.
Local requirements for sustainable buildings

30.

Planning authorities, developers and other partners in the provision of new development
should engage constructively and imaginatively to encourage the delivery of sustainable
buildings. Accordingly, planning policies should support innovation and investment in
sustainable buildings and should not, unless there are exceptional reasons, deter novel or
cutting-edge developments. Planning authorities should help to achieve the national
timetable for reducing carbon emissions from domestic and non-domestic buildings.24

31.

There will be situations where it could be appropriate for planning authorities to anticipate
levels of building sustainability in advance of those set out nationally. When proposing any
local requirements for sustainable buildings planning authorities must be able to
demonstrate clearly the local circumstances that warrant and allow this. These could
include, for example, where:
– there are clear opportunities for significant use of decentralised and renewable or lowcarbon energy; or
– without the requirement, for example on water efficiency, the envisaged development
would be unacceptable for its proposed location.

32.

When proposing any local requirement for sustainable buildings planning authorities should:
– focus on development area25 or site-specific opportunities;
– specify the requirement in terms of achievement of nationally described sustainable
buildings standards, for example in the case of housing by expecting identified housing
proposals to be delivered at a specific level of the Code for Sustainable Homes26;

24
25
26

See paragraph 8
See glossary
Where planning authorities consider that local circumstances do not justify specifying a whole Code
level they can stipulate a requirement solely in relation to the energy standard at an identified level of
the Code.

50

18

PLANNING POLICY STATEMENT: PLANNING AND CLIMATE CHANGE |

– ensure the requirement is consistent with their policies on decentralised energy; and
– not require local approaches for a building’s environmental performance on matters
relating to construction techniques, building fabrics, products, fittings or finishes, or for
measuring a building’s performance unless for reasons of landscape or townscape.
Testing local requirements
33.

Any policy relating to local requirements for decentralised energy supply to new
development or for sustainable buildings should be set out in a DPD, not a supplementary
planning document, so as to ensure examination by an independent Inspector. In doing so,
planning authorities should:
– ensure what is proposed is evidence-based and viable, having regard to the overall costs
of bringing sites to the market (including the costs of any necessary supporting
infrastructure) and the need to avoid any adverse impact on the development needs of
communities;
– in the case of housing development and when setting development area or site-specific
expectations, demonstrate that the proposed approach is consistent with securing the
expected supply and pace of housing development shown in the housing trajectory
required by PPS3, and does not inhibit the provision of affordable housing; and
– set out how they intend to advise potential developers on the implementation of the
local requirements, and how these will be monitored and enforced.

MONITORING AND REVIEW
34.

Effective monitoring and review is essential in securing responsive action to tackle climate
change. The successful implementation of policies on climate change depends on active
stewardship regionally and locally. Where monitoring suggests that implementation is not
being achieved in line with an agreed strategy or that the strategy is not delivering the
expected outcomes, it is essential to respond promptly and effectively. Annual monitoring
should assess progress against the objectives of this PPS and be integrated with monitoring
of housing delivery and other policies. Annual monitoring reports should describe
performance and, as necessary, the action intended to improve implementation or to
update the strategy.

35.

Regional and local monitoring should focus on the key actions and outcomes that underpin
delivery and on contextual indicators that measure changes with direct bearing on an
agreed strategy. It is essential to review regularly and update the assumptions on which the
spatial strategy and component parts are built. Where the RSS contains targets, or
trajectories for identifying trends in performance, monitoring should in particular assemble
data on outcomes so as to assess performance.

51

PLANNING POLICY STATEMENT: PLANNING AND CLIMATE CHANGE |

36.

There should be clear and workable arrangements to ensure close links between the
production of regional and local monitoring reports. These arrangements could usefully
integrate across the range of bodies that can contribute to effective monitoring.

37.

Reviews should reflect future updates to the national Climate Change Programme27,
developments in climate modelling and prediction, be sensitive to scientific and
technological developments, and be carried out at least every five years, or sooner where
there are signs that the spatial strategy in its implementation is insufficiently contributing
to the delivery of the Key Planning Objectives set out in this PPS.

19

DETERMINING PLANNING APPLICATIONS
38.

The development plan provides the framework within which decisions on proposals for
development are taken. It is important therefore that RSSs and DPDs are kept up-to-date
and properly reflect national policy.

39.

In the interim period before the development plan is updated to reflect the policies in this
PPS, planning authorities should ensure proposed development is consistent with the
policies in this PPS and avoid placing requirements on applicants that are inconsistent.
Where proposals are inconsistent with the Key Planning Objectives set out in this PPS,
consideration should be given to how proposals could be amended to make them
acceptable or, where this is not practicable, to whether planning permission should be
refused.

40.

An applicant for planning permission to develop a proposal that will contribute to the
delivery of the Key Planning Objectives set out in this PPS should expect expeditious and
sympathetic handling of the planning application.
Designing environmental performance into proposed development

41.

Where possible, planning authorities should make use of Design and Access Statements to
obtain from applicants the information necessary to show how their proposed development
will contribute to the Key Planning Objectives set out in this PPS and relevant RSS and
DPD policies consistent with this PPS.

27

And requirements arising from the Climate Change Bill when enacted.

52

20

PLANNING POLICY STATEMENT: PLANNING AND CLIMATE CHANGE |

42.

In their consideration of the environmental performance of proposed development, taking
particular account of the climate the development is likely to experience over its expected
lifetime, planning authorities should expect new development to:
– comply with adopted DPD policies on local requirements for decentralised energy
supply and for sustainable buildings28, unless it can be demonstrated by the applicant,
having regard to the type of development involved and its design, that this is not feasible
or viable;
– take account of landform, layout, building orientation, massing and landscaping to
minimise energy consumption, including maximising cooling and avoiding solar gain in
the summer; and, overall, be planned so as to minimise carbon dioxide emissions
through giving careful consideration to how all aspects of development form, together
with the proposed density and mix of development, support opportunities for
decentralised and renewable or low-carbon energy supply;
– deliver a high quality local environment;
– provide public and private open space as appropriate so that it offers accessible choice of
shade and shelter, recognising the opportunities for flood storage, wildlife and people
provided by multifunctional greenspaces;
– give priority to the use of sustainable drainage systems29, paying attention to the
potential contribution to be gained to water harvesting from impermeable surfaces and
encourage layouts that accommodate waste water recycling;
– provide for sustainable waste management; and
– create and secure opportunities for sustainable transport in line with PPG1330 including
through:
– the preparation and submission of travel plans;
– providing for safe and attractive walking and cycling opportunities including, where
appropriate, secure cycle parking and changing facilities; and
– an appropriate approach to the provision and management of car parking.

28
29
30

See paragraphs 26-33 above.
See CLG (2006) Planning Policy Statement 25: Development and Flood Risk.
See DETR (2001) Planning Policy Guidance Note 13: Transport. Chapters 3 and 4 in particular, and
supporting practice guidance.

53

PLANNING POLICY STATEMENT: PLANNING AND CLIMATE CHANGE |

21

Safeguarding environmental performance
43.

In determining planning applications, planning authorities should also consider the likely
impact of proposed development on:
– existing, or other proposed, development, and its renewable or low-carbon energy
supply;
– existing, or proposed, sources of renewable or low-carbon energy supply; and
– the vulnerability to climate change of existing or proposed development.

44.

Where proposed development would prejudice renewable or low-carbon energy supplies or
lead to increased vulnerability of existing or proposed development, consideration should
be given as to how the proposal could be amended to make it acceptable or, where this is
not practicable, to whether planning permission should be refused.
Planning conditions and obligations

45.

It is not necessary to use planning conditions to control those aspects of a building’s
construction and fittings that will be required to be in place to meet environmental
standards set through the Building Regulations. Planning conditions or planning
obligations can be used to secure the provision and longer-term management and
maintenance of those aspects of a development required to ensure compliance with the
policies in this PPS.
Compliance and enforcement

46.

Ensuring full compliance with the planning permission granted, including conditions
designed to secure implementation in line with the policies in this PPS, is important.
Compliance is best secured through positive intervention and not through reactive action
to received complaints. Planning authorities in considering their approach to compliance
and, when necessary, whether it is expedient to take enforcement action, should have
particular regard to the highest priority placed by Government on mitigating climate
change and successfully adapting to the unavoidable consequences.

54

22

PLANNING POLICY STATEMENT: PLANNING AND CLIMATE CHANGE |

ANNEX
London
The Mayor is responsible for strategic planning for London, and in particular for producing
a Spatial Development Strategy (SDS) for London. The SDS, also known as the ‘London
Plan’, provides a strategic framework for the boroughs’ local development documents and
sets out the spatial context for the Mayor’s other policies and strategies. GOL Circular
1/2000 Strategic Planning In London provides advice and guidance on the planning
arrangements that apply in London.
Under the Town and Country Planning (Mayor of London) Order 2000, certain categories
of planning applications have been identified as requiring referral to the Mayor. These
proposals must be referred to the Mayor, who may after due consideration, direct a refusal
of permission if he considers that the proposal is contrary to the London Plan or to good
strategic planning in London. These powers have been augmented to allow the Mayor to
direct, for particular cases, that he is to be the local planning authority for the purposes of
determining planning applications of strategic importance.
The Mayor and Assembly also have a new duty to tackle climate change, and in doing so to
have regard both to guidance produced by the Secretary of State and to national policies on
climate change. As part of this the Mayor is required to prepare and publish a statutory
Climate Change Mitigation and Energy Strategy, as well as a Climate Change Adaptation
Strategy for London.
These developments will influence the expected content of the London Plan and its
implementation which will differ from that of RSSs in the regions. The London Plan is not
a local development document and does not allocate development to specific sites, but the
approach set out in paragraphs 18-33 should, commensurate with the strategic role
performed by the London Plan, inform its development and implementation.

55

Published by TSO (The Stationery Office) and available from:
Online
www.tsoshop.co.uk
Mail, Telephone Fax & E-Mail
TSO
PO Box 29, Norwich, NR3 1GN
Telephone orders/General enquiries 0870 600 5522
Order through the Parliamentary Hotline Lo-Call 0845 7 023474
Fax orders: 0870 600 5533
E-mail: customer.services@tso.co.uk
Textphone: 0870 240 3701
TSO Shops
16 Arthur Street, Belfast BT1 4GD
028 9023 8451 Fax 028 9023 5401
71 Lothian Road, Edinburgh EH3 9AZ
0870 606 5566 Fax 0870 606 5588
The Parliamentary Bookshop
12 Bridge Street, Parliament Square,
London SW1A 2JX
TSO@Blackwell and other Accredited Agents

56

57

Agenda Item 9

21 January 2008

Policy Development & Review Panel 1
Work Programme and Meeting Schedule

Topic/Item

Lead Officer(s)

Local
Development
Framework (LDF)
Thetford Growth
Point Programme
(1)

Andrea Long
David Spencer

Flexi bus services
in Breckland

Chris Limbach
(Norfolk County
Council)
Andrea Long

Street Naming &
Numbering –
policy and
processes
A47- A1067 Link
Road (2)
Planning &
Climate Change

18 Dec
2007
Dereham
(3)
(4)

Andrea Long

Andrea Long
David Spencer
David Spencer

Notes:
1. Periodic updates
2. Periodic updates
3. Urban Capacity Study
4. Annual Monitoring Report 2006/7
5. Open Space Assessment
6. Landscape Character Assessment
Future Meeting – 1 April 2008

PD&RPanel1-WkProg&MtgSchedule

58

5 Feb
2008
Watton
(5)
(6)

11 Mar
2008
Watton

